ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Marlboro County

J. Michael Baxley, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

AUG 13 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ALEXANDER CARMICHAEL HUCKABEE, III,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-001409

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOHN H. STROM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the trial court committed reversible error by allowing SLED “criminal profiler” Paul LaRosa to give expert testimony applying concepts on “offender behavior” in crafting a “criminal profile” when the only inference from such profile testimony, that a defendant who matches the profile must be guilty, is improper as it usurps the jury’s role and was offered for the sole purpose of advancing expert opinion concerning the ultimate question of guilt or innocence?

- II. Whether the trial court committed reversible error by allowing SLED “criminal profiler” Paul LaRosa to give expert testimony applying concepts on “offender behavior” in crafting a “criminal profile” when the State failed to establish that the methodology of “criminal profiling” was scientifically reliable under *State v. Jones*?

- III. Whether the trial court committed reversible error by allowing SLED “criminal profiler” Paul LaRosa to give expert testimony applying concepts on “offender behavior” in crafting a “criminal profile” when the State failed to demonstrate that LaRosa had the necessary education, expertise, and experience to give opinion testimony?

- IV. Whether the trial court committed reversible error by allowing SLED “criminal profiler” Paul LaRosa to give expert testimony applying concepts on “offender behavior” in crafting a “criminal profile” when the probative value of the expert “offender behavior” evidence, offered as definitive proof of Appellant’s guilt, was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice as the evidence is not probative of whether the Appellant committed the specific acts he for which he was standing trial and provided no information helpful to the jury’s understanding of the evidence properly before it?

- V. Whether the trial court committed reversible error by admitting Appellant’s videotaped interrogation after law enforcement testified that they failed to fully re-*Mirandize* Appellant, including failing to advise him of his right to have an attorney present and his right to have an attorney appointed if he could not afford one, when three days had elapsed since his previous custodial interrogation and the interrogation was given under coercive conditions which overcame Appellant’s will?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 31, 2012, the Marlboro County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for inflicting great bodily injury upon a child, criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree, and homicide by child abuse. On October 5, 2012, Appellant was re-indicted on all charges to accurately reflect Appellant's name. R. 641.

Appellant's co-defendant, Atelia Hunt, was indicted for great bodily injury upon a child and homicide by child abuse. On March 1, 2013, Hunt pled guilty to homicide by child abuse and was sentenced to twenty years.

On May 14, 2013, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable J. Michael Baxley and a jury. R. 44. Brandon Steen and Richard Jones represented Appellant, and Deputy Solicitor Kernard E. Redmond and Assistant Solicitors Mary-Thomas Lee and Mia B. David represented the State. The jury found Appellant guilty of all charges.

The trial court sentenced Appellant to concurrent terms of life imprisonment on homicide by child abuse and criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree and a concurrent term of 20 years imprisonment on inflicting great bodily injury upon a child.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial court committed reversible error by allowing SLED “criminal profiler” Paul LaRosa to give expert testimony applying concepts on “offender behavior” in crafting a “criminal profile” when the only inference from such profile testimony, that a defendant who matches the profile must be guilty, is improper as it usurps the jury’s role and was offered for the sole purpose of advancing expert opinion concerning the ultimate question of guilt or innocence.

Relevant Facts

On October 6, 2011, Appellant and his girlfriend, Atelia Hunt, took Hunt’s minor child to the emergency room after she suffered a series of seizures. R. 68, ll. 22-23. Minor child was not breathing. *Id.* Attempts to revive her were unsuccessful. R. 70, ll. 1-21. Linda Hooper, the supervising nurse on duty that night, testified at trial that minor child had multiple bruises and burn marks. R. 70, ll. 22 – R. 71, ll. 3. Hooper also noticed that the minor child’s head was shaved. R. 68, ll. 17-23.

An autopsy revealed that the minor child died from an untreated urinary tract infection which eventually spread to her kidneys causing a blood infection. R. 92, ll. 5 – R. 93, ll. 22. The bacteria in her blood caused irregular clotting; progressing to a series of small strokes when the infected blood clots reached her brain. *Id.* Dr. Cynthia Schandl, who performed the autopsy, believed that the symptoms from the infection, particularly as it progressed to the brain would have been noticeable, such as: unsteady walking, lethargy, loss of appetite, and possibly seizures. R. 96, ll. 18 – R. 97, ll. 11.

Proffer Testimony of “Criminal Profiler” Paul LaRosa

At trial, the State sought to have Lieutenant Paul LaRosa of SLED to testify as an expert in in “offender behavior” or “criminal profiling.” R. 443, ll. 10-11. A proffer was held to determine

whether the “science” of criminal profiling is sufficiently reliable and whether LaRosa had the necessary qualifications. *Id.* at 18-23.¹

LaRosa had worked at SLED for eighteen years, and had a bachelor’s degree in art and political science. R. 534, ll. 24 – R. 538, ll. 5. He began his career in the Latent Print Crime Scene Unit and was certified in crime scene reconstruction. R. 424, ll. 3-12. From 2000 to 2005, he was a member of the Blood Hound Tracking Team, followed by a period as an investigator. *Id.* at 12-19. In 2010, he entered an understudy program to become a criminal profiler. *Id.* at 20-23. During this program his mentor was Mike Prodan, the subject of the opinion in *State v. Tapp*, 398 S.C. 376, 728 S.E.2d 468 (2012); R. 426, ll. 5-10. It is unclear if LaRosa was still an understudy at the time of this investigation. *Id.* at 11-16.

LaRosa’s formal instruction on criminal profiling and psychology, specifically sex offense profiling, came from two programs: (1) an eight week FBI course and (2) a one month internship with the Department of Mental Health. R. 426, ll. 19 – R. 428, ll. 1. LaRosa claimed his usual role is to help police identify the characteristics of a potential offender before the police have arrested or identified a suspect. R. 426, ll. 19-22. LaRosa admitted Appellant’s trial was the first time he testified as an expert criminal profiler in any court regarding sex offender profiles, but added hopefully, “we’ve got hundreds in the chute ready to go.” R. 447, ll. 6-13. LaRosa further admitted that Appellant’s case was only his second time testifying as a criminal profiler in any court. R. 434, ll. 7-9.

¹ Criminal profiling is also referred to as “victimology”; “behavioral analysis”; and “criminal behavioralist.” R. 426, ll. 8-10; R. 439, ll. 11-20; R. 471, ll. 14-15.

On the scientific reliability of “criminal profiling” and its methods, LaRosa claimed repeatedly that his work was peer reviewed. R. 330, ll. 15-18; R. 439, ll. 6-7; R. 439, ll. 25 – R. 440, ll.7; R. 440, ll. 6-7; R. 444, ll. 9-13; R. 472, ll. 23-25. He never identified or elaborated on what peer in the field of “criminal profiling” reviewed his work on this case, but simply that he had sent his results to others and they had approved of his profile. R. 439, ll. 2-7. No other criminal profilers, psychiatrists, or psychologists were called by the State to verify the accuracy of LaRosa’s profile. LaRosa averred:

Within our field, because we have the access of others that we bounce things off of. We talk. We have case reviews and that kind of stuff. We do have some fellow behavioral investigators with the FBI. There are several in Virginia that we will share with each other this information, and make sure that we're tracking correctly. But this case was peer reviewed in the --- in the testimony that I was going to testify to, about it being a Situational Child Molester with sadist overtones. And we know that a Situational Child Molester is going to be a male, and that he gets sexual gratification from inflicting pain on others.

R. 439, ll. 18 – R. 440, ll. 5. LaRosa explained that his conclusions on the sexual nature of the abuse as well as the gender, age, and relationship of the victim to the perpetrator were drawn in part on an FBI criminal profile database. R. 435, ll. 13-21. He did not name this database. LaRosa never referenced any scientific, psychological, or psychiatric treatises relied on when designing his criminal profile, and he did not reference any authorities in the criminal profiling field whose generally reliable or accepted methods he followed.

With respect to the amount of information about the case he used, LaRosa claimed he examined the autopsy report, and was told the “bases of the case,” including the background of the Appellant and co-defendant by Bass. R. 429, ll. 16-21; R. 432, ll.16-19. LaRosa stated that he concluded the offender behavior fit the profile situational child molester:

The accuracy rate. We have learned from our past mistakes as Criminal Profilers and Behaviorists, in a case like this we're not specifically saying that Mikey is the

one who inflicted those --- those scars and the sexual abuse on this victim. I can not say that he did it. *I can just say that it would've been somebody, a male, who would have had direct influence over this child. We have the ability to be alone over a period of time, to inflict over a period of time,* these –these burns and this abuse to this three year who would have had direct influence over this child.

R. 444, ll. 14-23 (*emphasis added*). Interestingly, LaRosa admitted that **the description of the possible offender was intentionally vague so as to improve the accuracy of his profile.** R. 445, ll. 5-7. LaRosa confessed that, “in the past [criminal profilers] would say that it would be a white male, twenty-four years old, driving a red truck, [or] he was twenty six years old driving a green truck, so we've pattern this a little different,” in an effort to increase the chances that the person charged with the crime matches the criminal profile. R. 444, ll. 25 – R. 445, ll. 4.

LaRosa did not submit his findings in a written report and the content of his testimony was not revealed to defense counsel until the day before he was to testify. LaRosa only became involved in the case after Appellant and co-defendant were arrested. LaRosa had no investigative function helping law enforcement generate leads or narrow down a large group of suspects. R. 429, ll. 16-21.

Trial Court's Ruling on Admissibility of LaRosa's Testimony

The trial court qualified LaRosa as an expert in the science of criminal profiling and ruled that all aspects of his testimony was admissible. R. 453, ll. 5-18. The trial court stated its opinion that the requirements for reliability were met:

I find that, you know, *there are numerous publications. There is peer review* of this technic [*sic*] which he testified to yesterday. He also testified that he has *previously been admitted as an expert in crime scene analysis, and also other behavior issues.* He's never--- he candidly admitted he has not been admitted as an expert in a CSC case allegedly with this type of evidence. But the Court does not find that the fact that this would be first impression on this specific set of facts would disqualify him to testify today.

I do find that because there is, he has an opportunity to work with the colleagues. He has worked with the behavioral group with the FBI, that thus there is --- there are quality control procedures, and there also are consistency --- are consistency in the methods that he applies.

R. 453, ll. 9-24 (*emphasis added*). The trial court also concluded that criminal profiling was a sufficiently reliable scientific field to be admitted as evidence at trial:

Basically, looking at this from **some sort of Dauber[t] Analysis** as well, that I find that this area of law is a cross roads of psychology, and human behavior, and crime scene analysis. As I said earlier, it is peer reviewed.

R. 453, ll. 25 – R. 454, ll. 3 (*emphasis added*). Curiously, the trial judge buttressed his finding, by noting criminal profiling's alleged general acceptance in popular culture somehow confirmed the scientific reliability of LaRosa's expert testimony and made it proper for the jury to hear:

The Court finds that there is *general acceptance now for this type of testimony, not only in the public domain, who may have even come to expect from television shows such as Criminal Minds and other media* that involve this type of science that has a definite impact on jury expectations. Although we're not here necessarily to play to jury expectations, *it just tells me that this is a generally accepted area of science. And I was impressed yesterday that Agent LaRosa testified that, because he will not identify the [Appellant] as the perpetrator, he has at least his position was, he would have a zero rate of error. But the Court has some comfort that he's not here today to necessarily target by name a specific defendant*, he is simply is going to give some annualizes [verbatim] of the crime scene, which actually is the body of the child.

R. 454, ll. 9 – R. 455, ll.20 (*emphasis added*). The trial court then determined that the probative value of LaRosa's testimony substantially outweighed any prejudice. R. 453, ll. 21 – R. 454, ll. 7.

Specifically the trial court found that:

[t]he jury here is confronted with basic questions. *How could anyone do this to a child?* Clearly if these wounds are not self-inflicted, these are cigarette burns, and that is the, I guess, the real evidence here, is *the State's attempt to prove that the Defendant did it. That's what brings us here. But the jury has to be wondering how could such a thing occur.*

And the Court finds that this is a core concern. It's really something we haven't discussed yet. *I'm sure it will come out in closing about how anyone could do this. How could this type of crime be committed?* Clearly the crime was committed here. I'm not saying that the Defendant did it, **but someone did**, because again these wounds cannot self-inflicted.

And so, the Court finds that *this type of behavioral analysis to assist the jury in bringing an understanding to what really is a core issue*, so I find it highly probative.

R. 455, ll. 8-24 (*emphasis added*). The trial reasoned that the testimony was not prejudicial because the defense should have prepared for the State to put up evidence that Appellant committed the crime. R. 456, ll. 1-4. The trial court did caution that if the testimony “*attempts to exclude the other adult in the house, which of course, is the mother...*when he attempts to exculpate her, the court believes that goes beyond what would be expected in the case by defense counsel.” R. 456, ll. 10-16 (*emphasis added*).

LaRosa's Trial Testimony Before the Jury

Immediately upon being qualified as an expert witness and having his reliability sanctioned by the trial judge, LaRosa summarized what “criminal profilers” do in a typical investigation. R. 471, ll. 7 – R. 474, ll. 6. LaRosa asserted, “**it's what televisions show, shows the majority of the time, is you have a victim and we don't know who did it...** We get into all kinds of victimology. Who was the victim. What was she like...” R. 471, ll. 10-16 (*emphasis added*). He testified that the majority of the work concerns looking at how the crime was done, **the victim's lifestyle** (minor child was four at the time of her death), and the background and lifestyle of the potential suspects. R. 471, ll. 17 – R. 472, ll. 11.

LaRosa stressed that criminal profiling is a collaborative effort and that he “consulted with other ‘criminal profilers’ and make sure that everything that I’m seeing in a peer review system...are correct.” R. 472, ll.21 –R. 473, ll. 10. In concluding what a “criminal profiler” does,

LaRosa concluded, “we were asked why would somebody do this. What are the most likely characteristic of a person that would do this and harm this child this way.” R. 473, ll. 23 – R. 474, ll. 1.

His methods and goals explained, LaRosa then recounted his role in Appellant’s case. R. 474, ll. 11 – R. 479, ll. 12. LaRosa stated that he drew on his crime reconstruction background in addition to his profiling expertise in determining the perpetrator was an adult male because he believed the burns on the minor child demonstrated that she was held down while they were inflicted. R. 476, ll. 4-24. LaRosa proffered that since the burns were inflicted around her genital area and that ninety-nine percent of all violent sexual assaults on children are done by males; the perpetrator was a male. R. 477, ll.7-2. LaRosa assuaged any skeptical jurors, professing:

it is right there in my research, and the research was done as late as this past week, and it was doubled checked last night. *There were no cases* that I could find from *the Forensic Psychiatrist that I consulted* with and also *the other Profilers in our unit*, where we have ran into a case where a sole offender would be a female.

R. 477, ll. 21-25 (*emphasis added*). None of the individuals alluded to by LaRosa testified at trial or were identified by name.

Having asserted his infallibility and outlined his methodology, LaRosa revealed the criminal profile he constructed, prefaced with explicit assurance that the fact Appellant was already in custody had no impact on his conclusion:

If this case came to us as a traditional profile and we had this victim on the side, say on the side of the road, *we didn't know who she belonged to or what the history was*. I would be telling the local authorities that *you would be looking for an adult male, approximately the age of twenty five to forty*, who would have --- who would --- once we would identify her and know who she is, *that this individual would have direct access over this child where they were able to have complete control over a period of time*.

R. 478, ll. 9-18. On cross-examination, LaRosa conceded that Appellant's trial was the first time he had testified in a CSC trial as a criminal profiler. R. 499, ll. 20-24. LaRosa also freely admitted that he had no direct evidence that Appellant was the perpetrator, "I have no evidence of anybody, except to meet that profile that I just explained to you." R. 480, ll. 2-3. On recross, LaRosa, over the objection of defense counsel, testified that he had consulted on hundreds of CSC cases with all kinds of perpetrators, victims, and facts, but that in these cases his testimony was not requested. R. 480, ll. 17 – R. 481, ll. 21.

State's Closing Argument

LaRosa's testimony featured prominently in the State's closing argument; the expert that confirmed Appellant's guilt by linking the minor child's injuries to the Appellant:

Paul Larosa testified, and I think Jones referred to it as whoie. **I mean it's -- he trained with the Federal Bureau of Investigation, the chief law enforcement agency in the United States of America in this particular field.** And here is the more important thing. **Did he really tell you anything that didn't make sense.** You know before you say, oh, and dismiss it as whoie what he tell you? Well, it's a male. **Looking at it as a crime scene situation we would be looking for an adult male.**

R. 624, ll. 3-11. Having vouched for the credibility and skill of LaRosa, the State summarized LaRosa's testimony:

Agent LaRosa testified that based on that and based on his review of that and review of the record that would indicate an adult. . . .

You know, why do that[?] **That's sadistic. Well, that leads into the sexual gratification aspect** of this because it is centered around her genitalia. It's sick. It's sadistic, but there is a sexual basis for why someone would do that. Sick. I can't fathom it, but unfortunately, as we heard it happens, and it happened to [Minor Child].

And then he also, Agent LaRosa, talked about the fact that **it would have been a male** because in the research and he outlined the research that had been done, the nature of what it is he does, and what not. These situations involve men. **Men are the perpetrators. . . . [LaRosa] [d]id not point and say the Defendant did it. This**

is where your common sense comes in. Who had the most access to that child during 16 that time? That was an adult male. The defendant.

R.. 624, ll. 17 – R. 625, ll. 16. The State then highlighted statements made by Appellant during his third interrogation by law enforcement, where Appellant conceded that he saw some indications of abuse and that he should have called DSS. R.. 53, ll. 8 – R.. 54, ll. 2.

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