(S)

ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Marlboro County  
The Honorable J. Michael Baxley, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-001409

RECEIVED  
AUG 20 2015  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

ALEXANDER CARMICHAEL HUCKABEE, III,

Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARY W. LEDDON  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM B. ROGERS, JR.  
Solicitor, Fourth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 616  
Bennettsville, SC 29512

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Marlboro County

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

While criminal behaviorists are not a psychologists or psychiatrists themselves, they are "good seasoned police officers" trained "in a little bit of psychiatry" and working with psychiatrists to investigate crimes. (R. pp. 438-39, p. 472.) He consults with others in the profession, both other behaviorists and psychiatrists or psychologists. (R. p. 430, pp. 472-73.) LaRosa is one of three qualified criminal profilers or analysts in South Carolina, and he also consults with analysts at the FBI. (R. p. 439.)

Profiling is subject to a peer review system. (R. p. 434, pp. 438-39.) He has other analysts review his conclusions. In this case, after reviewing a basic investigative packet, LaRosa contacted other profilers and a forensic psychiatrist to seek out other cases with similar circumstances. (R. pp. 434-35, pp. 438-39, pp. 472-73.)

LaRosa was contacted in Victim's case before the autopsy results were received. (R. p. 429.) Based on the information provided, LaRosa opined that the perpetrator in Victim's case was likely a male due to the injury to the Victim's vaginal area as the injury would tend to indicate a sexual arousal element. (R. pp. 429-30, pp. 477-78.) LaRosa stated that in his review, 90%-99% of child sexual assaults were perpetrated by men, and there were no cases he could find similar to Victim's where the sole perpetrator was female. (R. pp. 477-78.) He believed the injuries to Victim were most consistent with someone with private access to the Victim over a period of time. He noted this conclusion was based on the fact that the burns were in various stages of healing. (R. pp. 478-79.)

Further looking at the burns, based on a review of prior cases, he noted that children often move when touched with something hot. (R. p. 436, p. 476.) In LaRosa's view, burns perpetrated by other children are often "flashing burns" because the victim moves away from the burning object. However, the burns in Victim's case were "direct and specific" which indicated that Victim was unable to move from the burning. It was therefore likely that someone older and stronger than Victim burned her. (R. p. 437, pp. 475-76.) He noted the common sense inherent in his statements regarding the burns:

*It's not a profiler thing. But a three year old that runs into a hot object is going to move, and they're going to wiggle free. There was no wiggling. So the person who was doing this would have control over her where she could not move as the burns were being inflicted to her vagina.*

(R. pp. 476-77.) [Emphasis supplied.] LaRosa stated his analysis in this case was reviewed by others in the field. (R. p. 440.)

LaRosa was clear that he could not determine whether Appellant inflicted the wounds to the child. (R. p. 436, p. 480.) He can only say that “it would’ve been somebody, a male, who would have had direct influence over this child. Would have the ability to be alone over a period of time, to inflict over a period of time these --- these burns and this abuse to this three year old’s vagina.” (R. p. 444.) Nothing in this description of the likely offender speaks to state of mind in psychological terms.

Finally, as previously asserted in section I, any error in the admission of LaRosa’s testimony is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

#### IV.

**The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting LaRosa as an expert witness. The testimony was relevant and its admission did not constitute unfair prejudice.**

“The question of whether to admit or exclude testimony of an expert witness is within the discretion of the trial court. Absent a clear abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law, the trial court’s ruling will not be disturbed on appeal.” *State v. Weaverling*, 337 S.C. 460, 474, 523 S.E.2d 787, 794 (1999). The trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding the statement under Rule 403, SCRE. Rule 403, SCRE, states: “Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice . . . .” “Unfair prejudice does not mean the damage to a defendant’s case that results from the legitimate probative force of the evidence; rather it refers to evidence which tends to suggest decision on an improper basis.” *State v. Gilchrist*, 329 S.C. 621, 630, 496 S.E.2d 424, 429 (Ct. App. 1998) (quoting *United States v. Bonds*, 12 F.3d 540, 567 (6th Cir.1993)); see also, *State v. Dickerson*, 341 S.C. 391,

400, 535 S.E.2d 119, 123 (2000); United States v. Rodriguez–Estrada, 877 F.2d 153, 156 (1st Cir.1989) (“[A]ll evidence is meant to be prejudicial; it is only unfair prejudice which must be avoided.”).

The trial court conducted an analysis under Rule 403, SCRE. (R. pp. 454-55.) The trial court found that the testimony would assist the jury in finding how the child’s injuries occurred as they could not be self-inflicted. Judge Baxley did not permit LaRosa to testify regarding Hunt’s diary entries.<sup>11</sup> Judge Baxley also found it would not be appropriate for LaRosa to testify “that the only male that had access to this child is the Defendant.” (R. p. 456.) In sum, Judge Baxley limited LaRosa’s testimony before the jury to “his analysis of [Victim’s] body and the infliction of the wounds... .” (R. pp. 456-57.) As discussed in Section I, LaRosa’s testimony before the jury was more in the vein of crime scene reconstruction than profile development.

While the testimony was relevant to the issue of Appellant’s guilt, it was not unfairly prejudicial. Appellant complains that the testimony unfairly prejudiced him as it eliminated Hunt as a suspect. LaRosa’s testimony really only analyzed Victim’s injuries and the likely mode of infliction, and he did not expressly eliminate or include either Hunt or Appellant. This is not the type of prejudicial evidence which leads to a decision on an improper basis. Appellant’s suggestion that LaRosa’s testimony led to the conclusion that Appellant was a more likely perpetrator than Hunt embodies why the

---

<sup>11</sup> LaRosa was also provided with Hunt’s diary entries from the computer and testified regarding his opinions on them during in camera testimony. (R. pp. 441-43.) Based on the diary entries, it appeared to LaRosa that Hunt was most concerned with herself, noting that of 81 lines of text, she never mentioned Victim until line 79. (R. p. 442.) When asked whether he believed the diary entries showed any indication that Hunt would be the person harming the child, LaRosa said, “she doesn’t care enough about anybody but herself to even put [Victim] on the radar, that she wants to harm.” (R. p. 442.) LaRosa opined the entries were free-flowing and bore no indicators that Hunt was dangerous. (R. p. 443.) None of this testimony was presented to the jury.

evidence is relevant. It was particularly relevant in light of the defense portrayal of Hunt as “wicked, evil woman” who controlled and manipulated the situation and “let her child die after inflicting God knows what kind of injury on the child.” (R. pp. 587-606.)

Moreover, as argued in previous sections, any error in admitting LaRosa’s testimony was harmless under the particular facts of this case.

## V.

**The issue raised by Appellant is not preserved for appellate review where Appellant only objected generally to all three statements as involuntarily given. Even if the issue were preserved, it would be without merit. The trial court properly considered the totality of the circumstances and found the October 13 statement admissible. Moreover, as Appellant testified to the key portions of his third statement during his trial testimony, any error in admitting the statement is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.**

### 1. The issue is not preserved for review.

The only argument advanced to the court following the Jackson v. Denno hearing was:

Your Honor, just to say that we would like His Honor to exclude the statements, based on them not being voluntarily given.

(R. p. 39.)<sup>12</sup> The use of the plural “statements” reveals just how general the objection was. “[A] specific objection to the admission of evidence must be made to preserve the issue for appeal.” McKissick v. J.F. Cleckley & Co., 325 S.C. 327, 344, 479 S.E.2d 67, 75 (Ct. App. 1996). “The objection should be sufficiently specific to bring into focus the precise nature of the alleged error so that it can be reasonably understood by the trial judge.” Id. “The same ground argued on appeal must have been argued to the trial

---

<sup>12</sup> For ease of reference, Respondent uses the same designations of the various transcript as Appellant. (See Initial Brief of Appellant p. 33)

judge.” Id. Nothing in this brief objection can be said to call attention to the specific argument that Appellant’s third statement is inadmissible.

However, the court did state:

The defense raises the issue that on the third occasion that [Appellant] was being interviewed, that he did not sign a Miranda form, and that in the discussion between Agent Bass and [Appellant], he was not specifically advised of the right to counsel at the time of the third statement, as well as the fact that he had a right to stop – that is to have counsel present or to stop making a statement in order to consult with counsel.

(R. p. 40.) The trial court noted Appellant signed Miranda forms during his first two interviews, and he fully understood his rights at those times. (R. pp. 40-41.) The trial court noted that the third interview was conducted as a “courtesy” to Appellant, a carryover from the second interview where he was unable to completely write his statement. (R. p. 41.) The trial court found that the failure to specifically advise Appellant of the right to counsel or the right to stop and talk to counsel was not coercive in that, by the third interview, he had:

...heard that right at least twice, and initialed the form so he that he was aware of that right. And he expressed clearly an intention to go forward in the statement on the third occasion without reservation.

(R. p. 42.) The court found all three statements admissible. (R. pp. 42-43.)

While the trial judge discussed the third statement in the terms now raised by Appellant, “an issue is not preserved for appeal merely because the trial judge mentions it.” State v. Fletcher, 363 S.C. 221, 258, 609 S.E.2d 572, 591 (Ct. App. 2005) (rev’d on other grounds by State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 664 S.E.2d 480 (2008)). The trial court’s

discussion of the matter does not relieve Appellant of his duty to bring the matter to the court's attention. As such, this issue is not preserved for review.

**2. Under the facts and circumstances of this case, the statement was admissible.**

Even if preserved for review, the issue would be without merit. Here, Appellant was properly advised of his Miranda rights on two occasions prior to his interview with Lt. Kathy Bass of SLED on October 13. Appellant was first interviewed in the early morning hours of October 7 by two officers, Lt. Larry Turner and Sgt. John Hepburn. He was given Miranda warnings before this interview. (R. p. 15, pp. 17-21, pp. 145-46, p. 649 (Miranda form); State's Exhibits 80 and 103.) Appellant was not arrested following the first interview. (R. p. 26, 157-58.)

On October 10, Appellant was interviewed again. This time the interview was conducted by Lt. Turner and Lt. Bass at the jail. He was again given Miranda warnings. (R. p. 27, p. 28, pp. 29-32, p. 650.) Appellant had difficulty providing a written statement. At the close of the October 10 interview, he expressly agreed to meet with Lt. Bass to give a video-recorded statement as he was not very good at writing. (R. pp. 165-66.)

The recorded statement took place on October 13 at the Bennettsville Police Department. (State's Exhibits 81, 82, and 83.) Agent Bass of SLED reminded Appellant of Miranda warnings verbally. (R. p. 61, pp. 71-72; State's Exhibits 81, 82, and 83.) In her interview with the Appellant, Lieutenant Kathy Bass states:

Q: Well, let's do this before—you know me and my house keeping rules. I got to make sure you understand that. I read you your rights the last time you were here, so you understand that you have the right to remain silent.

A: On everything.

Q: And everything you say can be held against you. And you realize if you at any point say, Kathy I don't want to talk to you anymore, that's all you got to tell me and we're done.

A: I know.

Q: Okay. I'm not forcing you to talk with me.

A: I know

Q: So you're okay talking with me?

A: I'm fine –fine.

(R. pp. 715-16.)

Though she did not have Appellant initial a form, Lt. Bass' verbal reminder of covered the primary areas required by Miranda. "The precise wording of a Miranda warning is flexible; 'no talismanic incantation is required to satisfy Miranda.'" California v. Prysock, 453 U.S. 355, 359, 101 S.Ct. 2806, 69 L.Ed.2d 696 (1981)." Lt. Bass informed the Appellant that he did "have the right to remain silent." (R. p. 715.) She also explained to him that "anything you say can be held against you." (R. p 715.) The Appellant said he understood. (R. p. 715.) In this case, though a signed Miranda acknowledgement was not obtained a third time, Lt. Bass made every effort to make the Appellant aware of his Miranda rights before the interview began. She reminded him of rights read to him on the prior occasions, and she repeated those rights in language he could understand to ensure he was speaking with her voluntarily. (R. p. 715.) She thus incorporated the full Miranda warnings by reference to the prior acknowledgements. The trial court correctly concluded that the Appellant was properly advised of his rights, that he waived those rights, and that though Lt. Bass failed to mention his right to counsel again, Appellant was fully aware of that right. (R. p. 41.)

Moreover, courts have held that repeated warnings are not necessary to a finding that a defendant knowingly and intelligently waived them in similar instances. See United States v. Frankson, 83 F.3d 79 (4th Cir.1996) (two and one-half hours); Jarrell v. Balkcom, 735 F.2d 1242 (11th Cir.1984) (three hours); Commonwealth v. Silanskas, 746 N.E.2d 445 (Mass.2001) (two hours); Bush v. State, 461 So.2d 936 (Fla.1984) (eleven hours); Fagan v. State, 412 So.2d 1282 (Ala.Crim.App.1982) (three and one-half hours).

Our Supreme Court has directed that “the question of whether Miranda warnings, having been once given, should be repeated at later stages of the interrogation must be determined upon the basis of the facts and circumstances surrounding each case.” State v. Smith, 259 S.C. 496, 499, 192 S.E.2d 870, 871-872 (1972). The trial court correctly noted Appellant’s rights advice on two prior occasions and the reminder of those rights on October 13<sup>th</sup>. The October 13 interview was, in effect, a continuation of the October 10 interview. The October 13 interview was necessary because Appellant was unable to write well, and he willingly agreed to be videotaped instead. On October 13, Appellant did not hesitate to talk to Lt. Bass. In fact, he was friendly and engaged. He expressed his preference to talk with her rather than other officers. Lt. Bass reminded him of the rights that she herself had provided him on October 10. There was clearly nothing coercive about the atmosphere on October 13. For all these reasons, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant’s motion to suppress.

**3. Any error in admitting the statement was harmless.**

Any error in admitting the October 13 statement was harmless where Appellant testified before the jury in substantially the same way. “The admission of improper evidence is harmless where the evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence.” State v. Kirton, 381 S.C. 7, 37, 671 S.E.2d 107, 122 (Ct.App. 2008). The most incriminating

portion of the October 13 statement was Appellant's admission that he should have sought help or done something for Victim. (R. p. 752, p. 797, p. 813, pp. 815-16, p. 864.) Appellant testified at trial, "just like I told Mrs. Bass [in the third interview], I wish --- I should have did something." (R. p. 556.) He later repeated his feeling that he "should have done something," but couched the statement with "If I knew something, I should have done something." (R. p. 564.) Assuming, *arguendo*, that admission of the statement was error, such error was harmless.

**CONCLUSION**